Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-30-2009

City of Huetter v. Keene Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35470

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves a contest to Keene's right to hold office as mayor. On March 19, 2008, the City of Huetter ("Huetter), through its city attorney, filed a verified Request for Declaratory Judgment to Ascertain Status, and Request for Injunction seeking a declaration of the rights, status, and other legal relations between its mayor, Brad Keene ("Keene"), and a council member, Jennifer Brown ("Brown). R p. 1-2. The petition sought "interpretation of the Idaho constitution and state statutes related to elections and municipal offices so that the status and legal relations between the parties may be clarified." R p. 2. The petition contested Keene's and Brown's right to continue to hold office as incumbents. The City sought a declaration that Keene and Brown became ineligible to hold office by operation of law. The City also argued that Keene and Brown became ineligible to hold office pursuant to I.C. § 50-469, specifically that their offices became vacant by operation of law or pursuant to I.C. § 50-469, because their voter registration was cancelled January 18, 2008 and they were not reregistered until February 25, 2008. R p. 10-11.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

The City filed its Request for Declaratory Judgment to Ascertain Status, and Request for Injunction on March 19, 2008. R p. 1. A preliminary Injunction hearing was scheduled for April 3, 2008. R p. a. Keene and Brown filed a Notice of Appearance in the matter on March 31, 2008. R p. 20-21. Keene and Brown also filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Hearing on Declaratory Judgment to Ascertain Status, and Request for Injunction.

The trial court denied the City's request for a preliminary injunction, finding that the City had failed to demonstrate that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage would APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF: 1

result to the City of Huetter. R p. 33. Subsequently, the parties stipulated to a Preliminary Injunction and expedited trial for April 24, 2008, together with an expedited briefing schedule. R p. 33-36.

The City filed its trial memorandum, denominated as "Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Request for Declaratory Judgment to Ascertain Status" on April 10, 2008. R p. 37-44.

Keene and Brown filed their Reply Memorandum in Opposition to Declaratory Judgment on April 16, 2008. R p. 45-50. On April 21, 2008 the parties provided Stipulated Facts to the trial court. R p. 51-53.

The matter proceeded to trial on April 24, 2008 as scheduled. Tr p. 2, p. 4, L. 1-6. Prior to trial, the parties stipulated to the admission of the petition of candidacy of Keene and Brown and admission of a packet of letters sent by the county clerk notifying Keene and Brown that their challenges to their voter registration were due to residence challenges.² Tr p. 5, L. 19-25; p. 5, p. 6, L. 1-22.

At the conclusion of evidence, the trial court entertained legal argument. Tr p. 29, L. 1-5. The trial court allowed post-trial briefing to address the case of *Clark v. Wonnacott*, 30 Idaho 98, 162 P. 1074 (1917) which was argued for the first time at the trial of the matter. Tr p. 51,L. 14-22. Both parties submitted post trial briefing on April 28, 2008 addressing the application of *Clark v. Wonnacott, supra*. R p. 54-65.

Following receipt of post-trial briefing, the trial court entered its Memorandum Opinion, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on May 6, 2008. R. p. 66-78. A final judgment was entered by the trial court on May 16, 2008. R p. 77-78. A notice of appeal was filed by Keene and Brown on June 27, 2008. R p. 79-82. An amended Notice of Appeal was

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF: 2

¹ For unknown reasons, the appellate record does not contain page 1 to the stipulated facts.
² It is unknown where these stipulated evidentiary documents are located. They were not included with the stipulated facts filed by the court, and the Clerk's Certificate of Exhibits on appeal indicates there are no exhibits in the case. R p. b.

filed August 1, 2008. R p. 82-86. On January 26, 2009, an uncontested motion to withdraw as attorney of record for appellant Brown was filed. This Court granted the motion on to withdraw on March 19, 0209.

C. CONCISE STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 18, 2008, the City filed a complaint for declaratory judgment, verified by its City Attorney, seeking a ruling from the trial court that Keene was ineligible to hold office as the mayor and Brown was ineligible to hold office as a council person as a result of their removal from the voter registration rolls. The City sought declaration that pursuant to Idaho Cost. Art. VI, § 2; and I.C. §§ 50-402(c); 50-412; 50-413; 50-469; 50-601 and 50-702 that Keene and Brown became ineligible to hold office when their registration was cancelled and that vacancies existed in their office. R p. 3-19.

Prior to the November 6, 2007 elections, Keene and Brown timely filed verified declarations of candidacy that complied with I.C. § 50-432. R p. 51, Stipulated Fact 1. On November 9, 2007, the City canvassed the votes and determined Keene was elected Mayor and Brown was elected as a council person. R p. 51, Stipulated Facts 3 and 4. On January 9, 2008, Keene was sworn into office as mayor and Brown was sworn into office as a councilman at a regularly scheduled and noticed meeting of the City. R p. 51, Stipulated Fact 6.

During the election, a challenge was entered against Keene and Brown in the election record and poll book. The city clerk notified the Kootenai County Election Department of all challenges in the combination election record and poll book. R p. 51, Stipulated Fact 2. The challenge came from a challenger at the polling place to the oath of the elector. Tr p. 15, L. 1-6.

On December 28, 2007, the Kootenai County Elections Department prepared individual notifications for Keene and Brown notifying then their registration was challenged due to APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF: 3

residency challenges. Tr p. 4, L. 19-25; p. 5, L. 1. These letters were sent out December 28, 2007. Tr p. 9, L. 24-25; p. 10, L. 1-5. These notices were sent to Keene and Brown by certified mail. R p. 51, Stipulated Fact 5. Idaho Code § 34-432 does not specify that the notice is to be sent by certified mail. Rather, it requires that the notice be be sent by mail to the mailing address indicated on the elector's registration card.

Atthe trial on this matter, the election manager for Kootenai County, Deedie Beard, acknowledged that her job duties were controlled by the applicable statutes. Tr p. 7, L. 22-25; p. 8, L. 1-19. However, in this instance, the election manager testified she veered from the statutory requirements on the mailing of the notice of voter challenge and sent the letter certified mail, because of the strict time requirements in the statute so that she could ascertain that the challenged voters actually received the notice before their voter registration was cancelled. Tr p. 8, L. 20-25; p. 9, L. 1-20. Ms. Beard testified that normally she would have mailed those restricted delivery, but it was not done in this instance due to oversight. Tr p. 10, L. 10-22.

The letter that was sent did not inform the challenged electors that they had to appear in person in the county clerk's office or respond in writing to the challenge. It merely indicated the challenged elector needed to reply to the challenge within 20 days or their registration would be cancelled. It did not indicate that a telephone call would not meet the request for a reply. Tr p. 15, L. 7-25; p. 16, L. 1-4.

At the time the notice was sent, Keene was working 60 hour weeks and his time off did not coincide when the post office was opened. Tr p. 25, L. 6-25; p. 26, L. 1-3; R p. 51, Stipulated fact 5. Because the notice was sent certified mail, Keene's work schedule precluded his ability to retrieve it. Keene's certified letter was returned to Kootenai County as unclaimed on January 15, 2008. Tr p 24, L 12-18. (However, Brown informed Keene of what her

envelope contained. Tr p. 26, L. 24-25; p. 27, L. 1-12.) Despite the fact that the election department knew Keene had not received his letter, and the purpose of sending it certified mail was to ascertain receipt before cancellation, the election department proceeded to cancel Keene's registration. R p. 13-14.

Brown's letter was not sent to the mailing address on her voter registration as required by statute. Tr p. 16, L. 8-19. Nonetheless, Brown received her notice January 8, 2009. Tr p. 10, L. 23-25; p. 11, L. 1-4. Brown called the election manager the same day as she picked up the letter. Tr p. 12, L. 12-19. The election manager was not available and called back in response to a message left by Brown. Tr p. 12, L. 10-15.

Brown inquired during the return call why she was challenged. The election manager explained the challenge and stated that Brown took the oath of as a challengedvoter. The election manager told Brown she had 20 days to respond. The election manager also informed Brown that if her room mate's returned a written reply that it should be limited to one per envelope. The election manager agreed that Brown could re-register if cancelled. However, the election manager did not tell Brown that re-registration would satisfy the requirement of a reply to the challenge. Conversely, she did not inform Brown that re-registration would not satisfy the challenge when inquiry was made about re-registering. Tr p. 12, L. 10-25; p. 13, L. 1-6 Ms. Beard did not inform Brown that the January 8, 2009 phone call did not meet the reply requirements of the challenge and that she had to appear in person at election manager's office. Tr p. 19, L. 12-21.

Subsequently, effective January 18, 2008, Keene and Brown's registration was cancelled. R p. 52, Stipulated Fact 7. On January 18, 2008, Art Macomber, City Attorney for Huetter, was informed by the Kootenai County Elections Department that Keene and Brown's voter registration had been cancelled. R p. 13-14.

On February 13, 2008, Keene and Brown attended a city council meeting. At that meeting, Keene and Brown sat down at the council table. The City refused to recognize or seat Keene and Brown based upon the City Attorney's advice that Keene and Brown were ineligible to hold office and their offices were vacant due to their removal from the voter registration rolls. R p. 52, Stipulated Fact 8. Brown and Keene were informed by the city attorney and two council members that they could not participate in city government because they had been deleted from the voter registration and had forfeited their rights to their positions. R p 4. On February 14, 2008, Keene and Brown appeared before Kootenai County's official registrar to again register as voters. They were not registered as requested. Keene and Brown submitted a written demand pursuant to I.C. § 34-412(2) for a hearing within ten days to determine their qualifications to register as voters. R p. 52, Stipulated Fact 9.

On February 25, 2008, a hearing was held by the county clerk. At the hearing, Keene and Brown presented evidence of their qualifications to register. Dan English, Kootenai County Clerk, determined Keene and Brown were qualified to register and upon the conclusion of the hearing, registered them as voters. R p. 52, Stipulated Fact 10. As of February 25, 2008, and pursuant to I.C. § 34-408, the registration roll was open for registering voters. R p. 52, Stipulated Fact 11.

On March 12, 2008, Keene and Brown's legal counsel provided a letter to the City's attorney challenging the decision to block them from participation in city government. R p. 18. On March 19, 2008, the City's attorney participated in a telephone conference with Chief Deputy Secretary of State Tim Hurst and Deputy Attorney General Mitchell E. Toryanski. Following that conversation, Mr. Toryanski provided a letter dated March 19, 2008 to the city attorney expressing the opinion that cancellation of a voter registration did not result in automatic ouster or a vacancy in office. R p. 15.

This action followed. The trial court entered findings of facts, and conclusions of law.

The findings of fact were in conformance with the evidence presented, much of which was stipulated. It is the trial court's conclusions of law which are challenged.

IV. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the trial court err in its interpretation of the provisions of I.C. § 50-469?
- 2. Did the trial court err in finding I.C. §50-469 created a new method for contesting an incumbent's right to continue in Office?
- 3. Did the trial court Err when it determined that Keene became ineligible to hold office as a result of the cancellation of his voter registration on January 18, 2008?
- 4. Is Keene entitled to attorney fees on appeal?

V. STANDARD ON REVIEW

In Curlee v. Kootenai County Fire and Rescue, ___ Idaho ___, ___ P.3d ___ (Docket No. 34460)(2008) this court held:

Our standard of review for statutory interpretation is well established:

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. State v. Hart, 135 Idaho 827, 829, 25 P.3d 850, 852 (2001). Interpretation of a statute begins with an examination of the statute's literal words. State v. Burnight, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999). Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, courts give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction. State v. Rhode, 133 Idaho 459, 462, 988 P.2d 685, 688 (1999). Only where the language is ambiguous will this Court look to rules of construction for guidance and consider the reasonableness of proposed interpretations. Albee v. Judy, 136 Idaho 226, 231, 31 P.3d 248, 253 (2001).

Idaho Conservation League, Inc. v. Idaho State Dep't of Agric., 143 Idaho 366, 368, 146 P.3d 632, 634 (2006). "Moreover, unless a contrary purpose is clearly indicated, ordinary words will be given their ordinary meaning when construing

a statute." Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 123 Idaho at 415, 849 P.2d at 88 (citing Bunt v. City of Garden City, 118 Idaho 427, 430, 797 P.2d 135, 138 (1990)). In construing a statute, this Court will not deal in any subtle refinements of the legislation, but will ascertain and give effect to the purpose and intent of the legislature, based on the whole act and every word therein, lending substance and meaning to the provisions. George W. Watkins Family v. Messenger, 118 Idaho 537, 539-40, 797 P.2d 1385, 1387-88 (1990).

Further, "[b]ecause the construction and application of a legislative act are pure questions of law, this Court exercises free review over such questions. (Cite omitted.) The Court also exercises free review over constitutional issues as they, too, are purely questions of law. (Cite omitted.)" *Idaho State Ins. Fund v. Van Tine*, 132 Idaho 902, 905-906, 980 P.2d 566 (1999).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

In this action below, Keene and Brown raised the issue of the City's standing to challenge their eligibility to take office or remain in office. Keene and Brown asserted that the City did not have standing under I.C. § 34-2007 to contest their election. Keene and Brown also contended that the City did not have standing pursuant to I.C. § 6-602 to contest their eligibility to remain in office. In response to this issue, the City conceded that it did not have standing to bring an election challenge against Keene and Brown pursuant to Title 34, Idaho Code. It also acknowledged that it did not have standing to bring a proceeding pursuant to Title 6, Chapter 6 to have them removed from office. Instead, the City claimed it only sought a clarification of whether a vacancy existed in Keene and Brown's office pursuant to the provisions of I.C. § 50-469 as a result of the cancellation of their voter registration for a short period of time.

The City maintained that the provisions of I.C. § 50-601 dictated that to be eligible to continue to hold the office of mayor after election, a person must remain a qualified elector throughout their term. Similarly, the City maintained that provisions of I.C. § 50-702 dictated to be eligible to continue to hold the office of councilman, a person must remain a qualified elector throughout their termThe City claimed that the cancellation of a voter registration was the equivalent of a failure to maintain the status of a qualified elector. R p. Since Keene's and Brown's voter registration was cancelled January 18, 2008, the City maintained that it was required to declare their office vacant pursuant to the provisions of I.C. § 50-469 due to the cancellation, claiming they were no longer eligible to continue in office, because they were not "qualified electors" upon cancellation of their voter registration. R p.

The trial court found I.C. § 50-469 to be ambiguous. R p. 72. After analysis of this statute in conjunction with I.C. §§ 50-601 and 50-702, the trial court found that the cancellation of Keene and Brown's voter registration for the period of January 18 through February 25, 2008 caused them to be ineligible to continue in office and created a vacancy in their office pursuant to I.C. §50-469. Keene and Brown appealed this determination.

B. The Trial Court erred in its Interpretation of I.C. §50-469

In its conclusions of law, the trial court held that I.C. § 50-601 and § 50-702 respectively, required mayors and councilmen to remain qualified electors during their terms of office. R p. 74, Finding 1. The trial court also found by operation of law that a vacancy was created when an elected person failed to remain a qualified elector during the term of office pursuant to the provisions of I.C. § 50-469. R p. 75, Finding 6. The trial court found that Keene and Brown were not registered voters from January 18, 2008 to February 25, 2008, and as such were not qualified electors during that period. R p. 75, Finding 8. In Conclusion 9, the trial court determined that appellants' failure to remain qualified electors during their respective

terms of office created a vacancy in their office. R. p. 75. In finding 10, the trial court declared vacancies existed pursuant to I.C. § 59-901(4), said vacancies to be filled by the existing City of Huetter acting mayor and council pursuant to I.C. § 50-469.

Idaho Code § 50-469 provides that: "If a person elected fails to qualify, a vacancy shall be declared to exist, which vacancy shall be filled by the mayor and counsel." The trial court indicated that a reading of the language of I.C. § 50-469 did not lead it to a clear and simple understanding of how the statute should be applied within the body of election law and proceeded to interpret it after acknowledging certain statutory rules of construction. R. p. 72. The trial court struggled with what the legislature intended by the phrase "fails to qualify".

The trial court indicated that it was construing I.C. §§ 50-601 and 50-702 with I.C. § 50-469. The trial court observed that I.C. §§ 50-601 and 50-702 required a mayor or council person to remain a qualified elector throughout his term of office to remain eligible to hold the office. The trial court held that I.C. § 50-469 provided if a person elected fails to qualify, a vacancy shall be declared to exist. R. p. 73. Although the trial court did not specifically analyze the significance of its discussion of these two facts, it appears from the context of the entirety of the trial court's decision that it equated an elected person's failure to qualify prior to taking the oath of office with an incumbent public officer's failure to remain eligible after election.

In interpreting statutes, this Court has held:

The objective in interpreting a statute or ordinance is to derive the intent of the legislative body that adopted the act. Payette River Prop. Owners Ass'n, 132 Idaho at 557, 976 P.2d at 483 (additional citations omitted). Such analysis begins with the literal language of the enactment. Id. Where the language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion for a court to consider rules of statutory construction. Id. An ordinance is ambiguous where reasonable minds might differ or be uncertain as to its meaning. Id. However, ambiguity is not present merely because the parties present differing interpretations to the court. Id.

Constructions that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored. *Id.* "Language of a particular section need not be viewed in a vacuum. And all sections of applicable statutes must be construed together so as to determine the legislature's intent." *Friends of Farm to Market Rd.*, 137 Idaho at 197, 46 P.3d at 14.

Spencer v. Kootenai County, ____ Idaho ____, ___ P.3d ____ (2008 WL 597661).

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