Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-8-2009

City of Huetter v. Keene Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35470

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

ARGUMENT

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant Bradley W. Keene ("Keene") was elected to serve as mayor of the City of Huetter (hereinafter referred to as "Huetter" or "the City") at the municipal election held on November 6, 2007. R. p. 51 at 3. Idaho Code § 50-601 requires a mayor to be a qualified elector at the time of his declaration of candidacy and to "remain[] a qualified elector during his term of office." On election day, voters of the City of Huetter challenged the electoral status of twelve voters, among them Keene. R. p. 51 at 2.

Idaho Code § 34-432 requires that when a voter's electoral status is challenged, a notification of the challenge shall be sent to the challenged voters. Further, within 20 days from the date of mailing the written inquiry, the elector, here Keene, could have "in person or in writing, state that the information on his registration card [was] correct or he [might have] request[ed] a change in the information on his registration card." The Kootenai County Elections Department mailed such individual notifications of challenge to all of the challenged voters with a request for proper and timely response. R. p. 51 at 5. Keene failed to respond to the challenge

mailed to him within the 20 days required by law, even though he knew the contents of the letter required a response. I.C. § 34-432(1). As a result of this elected official's failure to comply with the law, the Kootenai County Registrar of Voters deleted Keene from the registration rolls on January 18, 2008. I.C. § 34-432(2).

On February 14, 2008, Keene attempted to re-register, was refused, but demanded a qualification hearing. R. p. 52 at 9. The Kootenai County Elections Department held the hearing on February 25, 2008 and determined that Keene was qualified to register and, thus, registered him again as a voter on that day. R. p. 52 at 10.

On January 9, 2008, prior to being deleted from the registration rolls, Keene was sworn into the mayor's office to which he was elected. R. p. 51 at 6. In Idaho, as discussed herein below, a person may be elected to public office prior to his qualifications for that office being verified. However, Huetter's City Attorney determined that because Keene had been deleted from the registration rolls and had thus failed to maintain his status as a qualified elector, he had become ineligible to hold office pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-469. R. p. 52 at 8. Accordingly, at a Huetter City Council meeting held on February 13, 2008, the City of Huetter refused to recognize or seat Keene and declared the mayor's office vacant. Id. Due to disagreement among those present as to whether Keene was eligible to hold office, the City Council meeting was unable to proceed. R. p. 4 at 8. Instead, there were verbal altercations, the meeting was not called to order, and councilpersons left the building. Id. Idaho Code § 50-469 does not specify who or what entity must declare a vacancy exists if a person elected fails to qualify for an office, but it does state the mayor and the council shall fill the vacancy. It is likely that the Idaho

Legislature did not envision a declaratory judgment would be required every time a vacancy needed to be declared to exist in an Idaho municipality.

Keene accepted the legal opinion of Huetter's attorney, and appeared at the Kootenai County Elections Office on February 14 to register as a voter. R. pp. 4 at 9, and 52 at 9. Thereafter. Keene obtained counsel and threatened that a lawsuit would be filed in *quo warranto*. arguing that the City ousted him from his elected position. Actually, due to Keene's disruptive behavior, the City was required to go to court to request declaratory judgment on the City's legal opinion, and no election contest was made, and no ouster was envisioned or attempted.

On March 19, 2008, due to continuing disruptions to the City's business and the need for the City to carry forth its business without challenge, Huetter brought an action in District Court requesting declaratory judgment "to declare rights, status, and other legal relations" of Keene to the City of Huetter. R. p. 1.

Based on stipulated facts, trial evidence, and statutory construction of Idaho statutes, the trial court found Keene was not a registered voter from January 18, 2008 to February 25, 2008, with the result that he was not a qualified elector during that time period. R. p. 75 at 8. The Idaho Constitution and statutes provide that: 1) a person fails to be a qualified elector if such person is not a registered voter; ¹ 2) a mayor must remain a qualified elector during his or her term of office; and 3) if a person fails to remain a qualified elector during his term of office, a vacancy is created.³ Keene was not a registered voter for over a month, and thus was not a

Idaho Const. Art. VI § 2; Idaho Code § 50-402(c).
 Idaho Code § 50-601.

³ Idaho Code § 50-469.

qualified elector during that time. Keene was required as mayor to remain a qualified Elector during his term of office. Therefore, the trial court correctly declared a vacancy existed in the mayoral office to which Keene had been elected, because he had lost his qualified elector status during his term of office. R. p. 75 at 10.

II. IDAHO STATUTES REQUIRE THAT A MAYOR SHALL REMAIN A QUALIFIED ELECTOR DURING HIS TERM OF OFFICE, THUS THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT KEENE'S FAILURE TO REMAIN SO CREATED A VACANCY IN HIS MAYORAL OFFICE, AND CORRECTLY DECLARED SAID OFFICE VACANT PURSUANT TO IDAHO CODE § 50-469.

Pursuant to facts stipulated to between the parties during trial, it is undisputed that Keene was removed from the voter registration rolls on January 18, 2008 and reregistered on February 25, 2008. R. p. 52 at 7 and 10. Accordingly, the trial court found that he was not a registered voter during this period. R. p. 75 at 8.

A. The trial court determined the intent of the legislative body that adopted Idaho Code § 50-469 using rules of construction and the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations.

At the trial level, a court must determine the meaning and effect of a statute by deriving the intent of the legislative body that adopted the statute. *Ada County Assessor v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Boise*, 123 Idaho 425, 428, 849 P.2d 98, 101 (1993). "Where the language of an ordinance is ambiguous, the Court looks to rules of construction for guidance and may consider the reasonableness of proposed interpretations." *Ada County v. Gibson*, 126 Idaho 854, 856, 893 P.2d 801, 803 (Ct.App.1995).

In this case, the trial court found Idaho Code § 50-469 ambiguous, because the court was not led "to a clear and simple understanding of how that statutes should be applied within the body of Idaho election law." R. p. 72. Thus, it appears the trial court properly exercised its judicial power to interpret the statute to make the requested declaratory judgment in this matter.

On the other hand, as a matter of law, this Court exercises free review over the meaning and effect of Idaho statutes. *J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co.*, 132 Idaho 582, 584, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999); *Mitchell v. Bingham Memorial Hospital*, 130 Idaho 420, 422, 940 P.2d 544, 546 (1997). Therefore, this Court may find Idaho Code § 50-469 is not ambiguous, either in its own language, or in its relationship to other Idaho election laws.

For example, this Court could find that the first phrase of Idaho Code § 50-469, "[i]f a person elected fails to qualify," is the legislature's plain language anticipating electoral challenges such as happened in this case, especially in the light of Idaho Code § 50-427, which allows for challenges at the time of an election. Since challenges made pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-427 could not be resolved until after the election, a person could be elected and still fail to qualify for the office in the future due to such a challenge. This interpretation comports exactly with the facts of this case.

Further, if Keene is incorrect, this Court's agreement with the City's above-stated interpretation would mesh nicely with Idaho Code § 50-601, related to the requirement that a mayor "remain[] a qualified elector during his term of office," because it would recognize that a forward-looking interpretation of Idaho Code § 50-469 is substantiated not only by Idaho Code § 50-427, but by Idaho Code § 50-601.

The City of Huetter does not take issue with Keene's argument that this Court should view Idaho Code § 50-469 in the light of the entire statutory structure. Keene App. Br. p. 11.

However, Keene goes on to argue that simply because a city makes a declaration that a person is elected, that such declaration cures a candidate's qualification issue. Id. at pp. 11-12. Following Keene's own argument regarding the entire statutory structure, this argument must fail, because Idaho Code § 50-467 appears before Idaho Code § 50-469 in the Code. Thus, the first phrase of Idaho Code § 50-469 must refer to a time *after* the declaration of election made pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-467. Further, the canvassing of votes and declaration of elected officials made pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-467 will, in almost every conceivable case, happen before resolution of an electoral challenge brought pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-427, which statute refers directly to Idaho Code § 34-432 whereby the County Clerk must resolve said challenges.

Therefore, this court could reasonably find that there is a direct connection between Idaho Code § 50-427 (challenges), Idaho Code § 50-469, (failures to qualify), and Idaho Code § 34-432 (resolution of electoral challenges). This connection would explain the placement of Idaho Code § 50-469 after § 50-467, because a person could be declared to be elected, but an election day challenge under § 50-427 could not be resolved until the County Clerk had initiated and completed the procedures required under Idaho Code § 34-432. Thus, the language of Idaho Code § 50-469 would not be ambiguous either within its own language or the statutory structure: "if a person elected fails to qualify, a vacancy shall be declared to exist"

Keene argues that if Idaho Code § 50-469 is ambiguous, it must be interpreted pursuant to the legislature's Statement of Purpose of the original 1978 bill included as Addendum A to his

Brief, because that Statement of Purpose states, "[t]he act places election procedures in sequence of time and conduct by the city." Keene App. Br. Add. A. However, because a failure to qualify due to an election day challenge and a declaration of vacancy could not possibly be determined by a County Clerk concurrent with or shortly after the canvassing of votes, see Idaho Code § 50-470, or the certification of an election, see Idaho Code § 50-470, Keene's reliance on the Statement of Purpose must fail.

Alternatively, if Keene's Statement of Purpose argument holds water, this Court could consider whether the requirements of Idaho Code § 50-427, and the County Clerk's duties referenced in that statute and found at Idaho Code § 34-432 require the County Clerk to resolve an election day challenge prior to later occurring Title 50 Chapter 4 sections following Idaho Code § 50-469, to wit: §§ 50-470 through 50-479, inclusive. However, this construction would not make sense because Idaho Code § 50-469 explicitly recognizes a person may become elected prior to failing to qualify, and Idaho Code §§ 50-470 related to election certificates, application for recount (§ 50-471), recalls (§ 50-472), initiative and referendums (§ 50-473), and the subsequent miscellaneous provisions of §§ 50-474 through 50-479 relate generally to elections themselves, and how they are to be conducted, and not to how an election day challenge may result in a vacancy. If Idaho Code § 50-469 did not exist at all, there would be no provision for a city's resolution of an election day challenge pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-427, because Idaho Code § 34-432 would allow a County Clerk to remove a person from the voter registration rolls, but a city would thereafter have no ability to declare a vacancy.

In this case, when the City Attorney attempted to inform Keene that he was disqualified from holding office due to his removal from the voter registration rolls by Kootenai County, Keene would not allow the meeting to be called to order, and the City's business was disrupted.

R. p. 4. It took the declaratory judgment of the trial court to reaffirm Idaho Code § 50-469, so that Keene would understand that the vacancy declared to exist by the City Attorney was the correct interpretation of that statute pursuant to Idaho law.

B. The trial court correctly found that the Idaho Constitution and Idaho Statutes require that one must be a registered voter to qualify as a "qualified elector."

The trial court correctly found that both Article VI, Section 2 of the Idaho Constitution and I.C. § 50-402(c) include, among other factors necessary to meet the criteria of a "qualified elector," that one must be a "registered voter." This is obvious from the plain and simple language of these sections of the law.

Article VI, Section 2 of the Idaho Constitution provides as follows:

Every male or female citizen of the United States, eighteen years old, who has resided in this state, and in the county where he or she offers to vote for the period provided by law, if registered as provided by law, is a qualified elector.

(emphasis added).

I.C. § 50-402(c) provides as follows:

A "qualified elector" means any person who is eighteen (18) years of age, is a United States citizen and who has resided in the city at least thirty (30) days next preceding the election at which he desires to vote and who is registered within the time period provided by law. A "qualified elector' shall also mean any person who is eighteen (18) years of age, is a United States citizen, who is a registered voter, and who resides in an area that the city has annexed pursuant to chapter 2, title 50, Idaho Code, within thirty (30) days of a city election.

(emphasis added).

Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, the court must give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction. *State v. McCoy*, 128 Idaho 362, 365, 913 P.2d 578, 581 (1996).

According to the undisputed facts, for the period of time after his election between

January 18, 2008 to February 25, 2008 Keene was not a registered voter, and thus the trial court

properly found he was not a qualified elector during that period.

C. The trial court correctly found that Idaho Statutes require that mayors must remain qualified electors during their terms of office.

The trial court correctly found that Idaho Code § 50-601 requires that mayors must remain qualified electors during their terms of office. Idaho Code § 50-601 provides, in pertinent part, as pertains to the qualifications for mayor that:

Any person shall be eligible to hold the office of mayor who is a qualified elector of the city at the time his declaration of candidacy or declaration of intent is submitted to the city clerk and remains a qualified elector during his term of office.

(emphasis added).

Again, because the language of the statute is plain and unambiguous, the trial court correctly and logically found that in order to remain a qualified elector, one must be a registered voter. Because Keene was not a registered voter for a period of time during his term of office, the trial court found that he did not remain a qualified elector during his term.

D. It is undisputed that Keene was not a registered voter for a period during his term of office and the trial court, thus, correctly found that he was thereby unqualified to hold office pursuant to Idaho statute.

There are various criteria for qualification for an office under Idaho law. As discussed previously, one way in which one must attain the status of a qualified elector is by being a registered voter. In Clark v. Wonnacott, 30 Idaho 98, 108 (1917), the Court found that because McFarland, the newly elected assessor office holder in that case, died after his election but before he qualified to hold office, Wonnacott, the previous assessor, was legally entitled to continue in office until a new assessor could be elected and shown to be qualified to hold the office. In that case, the Court stated that, in Idaho, "the person elected to an office does not become the incumbent of the office until he qualifies."

(Clark, 30 Idaho at 106.) This case was prior to the 1978 enactment of the present Chapter 4 of Title 50, Idaho Code. However, that set of statutes retains the dual qualification of election and qualification for eligibility to hold the office of mayor. I.C. § 50-469.

Three other Idaho cases cite Clark: Big Wood Canal Co. v. Chapman, 45 Idaho 380, 263 P. 45 (1927); White v. Young, 88 Idaho 188, 397 P.2d 756 (1964); and Bone v. Duclos, 94 Idaho 589, 494 P.2d 1033 (1972). All cite the statutory interpretation that along with election must come qualification of one sort or another. In a case of first impression in Idaho, the Idaho State Supreme Court found statutes required that "[a]n appointee to the office of county commissioner filling a vacancy serves only until his successor is elected and qualified." Bone v. Duclos, 94 Idaho 589, 590 (1972); Bone v, Andrus, 96 Idaho 291 (1974) (emphasis in original.)

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